
                                    URBANA CITY COUNCIL 

            REGULAR SESSION MINUTES – NOVEMBER 27, 2012 
Council President Marty Hess called the Urbana City Council Regular Session Meeting 
of Tuesday, November 27, 2012, to order at 7:00PM in Court Chambers / The Municipal 
Building. 
Attendance  - All Council Members were present / The Clerk was absent due to illness 
City Staff – Mayor Bill Bean; Mr. Kerry Brugger, Director of Administration; Mr. Lee 
Williams, Finance Director; Police Chief Matt Lingrell; Mr. Robert Munch 
Roll Call and Pledge of Allegiance 

Brief Presentation 
Urbana Police Officer Josh Jacobs (President F.O.P. Lodge #93) discussed “The 
Christmas Giving Tree Project” before Council. He explained the project, which the 
Police Division together with F.O.P. Lodge #93 have made an annual tradition. Gifts are 
solicited through the tree (with numbers on tags, and the age / sex of a child identified 
through local agencies as ‘in need’ of a gift). Community members were urged to ‘come 
in and grab a tag--or two,’ and donate a Christmas gift for the child described on the tag. 
Gifts should be returned to the Police Dept., so that the gift can be delivered before 
Christmas. 
The Christmas tree is scheduled to be up with tags on Monday, December 3rd. Gifts 
should be returned by Wednesday, December 19th. No definite date was provided for 
delivery of the gifts. Officer Jacobs guesstimated between December 22 & 24. 
Mr. Doug Hoffman asked how many gifts were expected to be received. 
“We don’t set a price, or the amount of gifts…I’ve had gifts come back that are in 
small/little boxes, and I’ve had gifts that have come back in big ol’ gift bags…sometimes 
the best gifts are in small boxes (at least, that’s what my wife says),” said Officer Jacobs. 
“We don’t want to put a price range on it…it’s more the thought behind it…you do 
whatever best fits you when taking that tag.” 
Mr. Al Evans asked whether monetary donations are appropriate toward the purchase of 
gifts. 
“We don’t request (or necessarily ask for monetary gifts)—however we always receive 
monetary gifts—and of course, we don’t turn that away,” Officer Jacobs replied. “It’s 
been pretty religious in the past couple years that…when a tag is taken out, a gift is 
brought back…” 
He noted he will receive calls now throughout the end of the December--some of which 
request help for a needy family right up to the end of the month.  
Officer Jacobs said, “We never turn anyone away, as long as it’s fit our criteria…living 
within the city of Urbana, and being 12 years of age or younger. The monetary donations 
that we do get—we have gone out to buy gifts. Any money we receive that we can’t use 
for the Christmas project, we put it to other projects within the city throughout the year.” 
Mr. Evans asked how checks should be written. 
“The F.O.P. Lodge #93,” answered Officer Jacobs, also thanking Council for the 
providing time to speak. Officer Jacobs wished all a ‘Merry Christmas.’ 
Council President Hess said, “We appreciate what you’re doing.” 
Approval of Minutes 

Mr. Robert Thorpe moved to approve the UCC Regular Session Minutes (November 13, 
2012); Mr. Larry Lokai seconded. Motion carried without objection. 



Communications 
Mr. Thorpe moved to place the LUC Regional Planning Commission Executive 
Committee Meeting Minutes (November 8, 2012) on file; Mr. Lokai seconded. Motion 
carried without objection. 
Administrative Reports – Board of Control 
There were no Board of Control items at this Meeting. 
“Saying all our money up for next time,” commented Council President Hess. 
“Yes sir,” replied Mr. Lee Williams. 
Citizen Comments 
Mr. Ben Vollrath, Customer Business Manager with DP&L, was introduced to Council. 
Mr. Vollrath elaborated on his background and explained that he is the replacement for 
Mr. Bill Kelley.  
He said, “I have the pleasure of filling his big shoes.” 
Mr. Vollrath will cover Union County, Champaign County, and Logan County. He noted 
his goal to attend at least 1 Council Meeting per month to ‘keep in the loop of what’s 
happening here.’ He invited Council to email or telephone at any time, and voiced his 
desire to assist with questions /concerns. 
Mr. Thorpe questioned Mr. Vollrath regarding Ohio Electric Choice. Mr. Vollrath 
provided a brief explanation with additional information to follow (*See Communication 
#1 on the December 4, 2012, UCC Agenda/Packet). He also pointed to the PUCO 
website where ‘an apples to apples comparison’ is provided regarding suppliers out there, 
and offers. 
“Are we into a contract with these people?” asked Mr. Thorpe, noting the variance of 
numbers. 
Mr. Vollrath replied:  
“That’s the important thing to know is—one—you do not have to switch. No one is 
forcing you—no one can tell you, you have to do this (or it’s required). Now, if they are 
saying that—that’s something you might want to report to PUCO, because that’s an 
illegal practice. You have your complete choice of what you’d like to do with that. There 
are contracts for some of them—some may say, ‘Hey, this is a 2 year deal…or a 1 year 
deal.’ Some may have other cost (or things) involved with it. Before signing up with one 
of them—I would just say you would want to make sure that you really see the fine detail 
of what they’re asking for, or what you’re signing onto.” 
Mr. Thorpe mentioned particular telephone calls and wording. He prodded Mr. Vollrath 
to say whether DP&L is ‘the best thing going,’ as far as the offers are concerned. 
Mr. Vollrath emphasized that he is not at liberty to say, ‘You need to go sign up for this, 
or go sign up for that. That’s something that we’re (by law) not allowed to do.’ 
Mr. Thorpe sought to verify that the PUCO website will in fact provide all the 
information (listings). 
“Exactly,” replied Mr. Vollrath. 
“I’m just a little upset tonight—what am I trying to say, Marty?” Mr. Thorpe said. 
“It’s too early to adjourn,” Council President Hess said (to laughter). 
Mr. Thorpe went further to question contracts imposed without a signature. 
Mr. Vollrath indicated that any number of suppliers may make contacts by mail, by 
telephone, and even at a resident’s door.  



He said, “They will all indicate to you that you have a choice as a consumer to make a 
switch. If you are already in a contract with somebody—be cognizant of that, so you 
don’t break their contract.” 
Mr. Vollrath outlined the parameters of what constitutes a ‘contract,’ and cautioned that 
informed research is vital to making an informed decision. 
Mr. Thorpe requested an 800 number, to ‘burn the phone lines tomorrow.’  
Mr. Vollrath encouraged Council to continue to reach out with 
questions/comments/concerns. 
“Sorry to put you on the spot the first time, but it will get better,” stated Council 
President Hess. 
“No problem--I’m looking forward to taking care of all of you,” replied Mr. Vollrath. 
“Thank you, young man,” said Mr. Thorpe. 
Ordinances and Resolutions 

Third Reading – 

There were no Third Readings at this Meeting. 
Second Reading – 

RESOLUTION NO. 2376 – 
A RESOLUTION TO APPROPRIATE MONEY FOR THE SEVERAL OBJECTS AND 
PURPOSES WHICH THE CITY OF URBANA, OHIO MUST PROVIDE FOR THE 
FISCAL YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2013 
(*Read and declared a Second Reading) 
Mr. Williams expressed appreciation to Council for the thorough input he has received 
First Reading – 
There were no First Readings at this Meeting. 
Miscellaneous Business 
Mr. Hoffman      - Nothing at this time 
Mr. Thorpe         - Quizzed Council Members regarding their length of service 
                             “Gene, how long have you been on Council?” he asked. 
                             “Twelve years (or more),” replied Mr. Eugene Fields. 
                             “Okay--Are you going to run next time?” asked Mr. Thorpe. 
                             “I think I will—are you?” asked Mr. Fields. 
                             “No—Al Evans? Council?” asked Mr. Thorpe. 
                             “Ten years,” replied Mr. Evans. 
                             “Are you going to run next time?” asked Mr. Thorpe. 
                             “I haven’t made up my mind yet,” Mr. Evans answered. 
                             “Okay—Mr. Paul?” asked Mr. Thorpe. 
                             “Eight months,” said Mr. Dwight Paul. 
                             “Are you going to run again?” asked Mr. Thorpe. 
                             Mr. Paul said, “I believe so—yes.” 
                             “Mrs. Smith?” asked Mr. Thorpe. 
                             “Eleven months,” replied Mrs. Virginia Smith. 
                             “Are you going to run?” asked Mr. Thorpe. 
                             Mrs. Smith said, “I haven’t decided.” 
                             “Mr. Lokai?” asked Mr. Thorpe. 
                             Mr. Lokai replied, “Eight years, 11 months, 27 days…” 
                             “Are you going to run?” asked Mr. Thorpe. 



                             Mr. Lokai asked, “Do you want me to?” 
                             “Well, sure!” said Mr. Thorpe. 
                             “I’ll do whatever you want,” said Mr. Lokai. 
                               “Just so you can hear what I’ve got to say—I’ve been around about 
                               twelve years, and I intend to run again…and anybody listening… 
                               vote for me!” Mr. Thorpe stated. “Mr. Hoffman—are you going to run 
                               next time?” 
                               Mr. Hoffman answered, “Yes sir.” 
                               “What’s all this got to do with the price of tea in China?” asked Mr.  
                               Lokai. 
                               “…because I feel like it!” said Mr. Thorpe. 
                               “Oh—okay,” Mr. Lokai replied. 
                               Mr. Thorpe briefly mentioned progress and ‘numbers of complaints  
                               down 95%’ 
                               Mr. Lokai interjected (to laughter), ‘Ohio State 12 and 0 for the year.’ 
                               Mr. Thorpe complimented the current Administration 
Mr. Lokai          -    “I was just going to tell everybody the Buckeyes are 12 and 0— 
                               Looking forward to a great year, and (I guess) looking forward to a 
                               good year for Council. Go Bucks!” Mr. Lokai said. 
Mrs. Smith         -   Agreed with Mr. Thorpe’s remark regarding the current Administra- 
                               tion; Commented that she has ‘heard good things, and that is very  
                               positive for Urbana to grow.’ 
                               Expressed a concern about mattresses and couches behind the theatre 
                               “Every time I go to drop letters off—they just keep adding to that col- 
                               lection,” she said. 
Mr. Paul              -  Complimented the great job ‘the leaf guys’ are doing around town 
                               Concurred with Mr. Thorpe and Mrs. Smith that the Administration 
                               ‘does a fantastic job’ 
                               “I appreciate that…and keep up the good work!” Mr. Paul said. 
Mr. Evans            -  Discussed the arrival of Santa; Announced that Santa will be in 
                                Urbana every weekend (Fri. & Sat.) until the end of the Christmas 
                                season; Noted Christmas is ‘up and running downtown’ 
                                “I would personally invite you to come and visit Santa Claus,” he 
                                said. “Shop downtown, and celebrate the Christmas season in the 
                                best little town in the Midwest!” 
                                Mrs. Smith (to more laughter) asked, “Can I sit on his knee?” 
Mr. Fields             - Nothing at this time 
Mr. Robert Munch – 
                                “Tonight—I’m Water Dept., Sewer Dept., Street Dept.—the Street 
                                Dept. would like to thank you for your comments on picking up the 
                                leaves…most important I would like to report that we are wrapping  
                                that up!” stated Mr. Munch, as he aanounced the final clean up  
                                schedule. He reminded residents to get leaves to the curb ‘by this 
                                weekend’ 
                                “Will the Compost Facility be open at all, if they don’t get them  
                               out?” asked Council President Hess. 



                               Mr. Munch indicated the Compost Facility is ‘closed, but the gates are 
                               open’ ; Emphasized no sticks or garbage is to be included with leaves 
                               Reminded that leaves will not be picked up on the streets in front of 
                               or behind vehicles (parked on the streets) 
                               Mr. Lokai thanked Mr. Munch for ‘multi-tasking’ 
Police Chief Matt Lingrell – 
                                 Nothing at this time 
Mr. Williams         - Nothing at this time 
Mr. Kerry Brugger – Reported the Phoenix Dr. paperwork/summary/pricing is finished; 
                                 Discussed the 20 year loan (no interest), and said, “Originally, it was 
                                 estimated that it would come in at around $277,000—it came in at 
                                 $264,000 so saved about $13,000 than what we originally thought… 
                                 so…nice project, and it came in under budget.” 
                                 Also complimented the leaf pickup, and repeated information about 
                                 The Compost Facility 
                                 “If—there’s a question, and you get out there and there’s nobody at  
                                 the building…drive on back to the WWTP, and they’ll be able to  
                                 help you there,” Mr. Brugger stated. 
Mayor Bill Bean -    Said, “Well, Al stole my thunder—so just to remember—go  
                                 downtown, shop there…and like Al said, ‘Santa Claus is coming to 
                                 town!’” 
                                 Thanked Council for their vote of confidence in the Administration, 
                                 and pledged to ‘keep working hard, and doing what it takes to make 
                                 Urbana a better city’ 
Council President Hess – 
                                 Reminded Council of the previous week discussion (Public Hearing)  
                                 regarding the NW Quadrant; Said, ‘Floyd Browne is going to collect 
                                 some information, so it’s not over with yet. The residents have said 
                                 that they were glad to be able to come and speak to Mr. McCauley.’ 
                                 Mr. Brugger stated, “Mac McCauley called (and we talked this 
                                 morning), and he’s making arrangements…tentatively…he’s work- 
                                 ing with Chad, and we’re going to try to hook up on Friday to get 
                                 down and meet with some of the residents that were here last Tues- 
                                 day…so…if it doesn’t happen Friday, we’ll schedule it next week… 
                                 but there is some interest…we’ll approach Mac about getting to- 
                                 gether…” 
                                 “This may extend the time limit on what they’re going to come back  
                                 with—so it may not be—by the end of the year, but they’re working 
                                 at it to get it done as soon as possible,” said Council President Hess. 
                                 Mr. Thorpe stated, “I’m 76 years old—I’ve never been unemployed  
                                 in my life—today was the first day of unemployment.” 
EXECUTIVE SESSION 

Mr. Thorpe moved to adjourn to EXECUTIVE SESSION at 7:35PM; Mr. Lokai 
seconded. 
Roll call vote to approve: Mrs. Smith, yes; Mr. Lokai, yes; Mr. Thorpe, yes; Mr. 
Hoffman, yes; Mr. Fields, yes; Mr. Evans, yes; Mr. Paul, yes  (7-0) 



ADJOURNMENT  
Following a brief Executive Session, Mr. Thorpe moved to reconvene to Regular Session 
and adjourn; Mr. Lokai seconded. All were in favor of adjournment. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
_____________________________________________            _____________________________________________ 

Council Clerk                                                                              Council President 

 

 

November 27, 2012 Minutes.doc                            Urbana City Council                                              Page 6 of 6 

                                   
 
   


